### SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC02-1925

	L.T. CASE NO. 3D00-3096
CHARLES FREDERICK ACKER,	
Petitioner,	
VS.	
BARBARA DRUMM ACKER,	
Respondent/	
INITIAL BRIEF OF PETITIONER,	CHARLES FREDERICK ACKER

JEROME J. KAVULICH, ESQ. Florida Bar No. 314684 RUSSO & KAVULICH, P.L. 2655 Le Jeune Road, PH 1-D Coral Gables, FL 33134 Telephone: (305) 442-7393

Facsimile: (305) 445-4751

##

## **INTRODUCTION**

The Petitioner, CHARLES FREDERICK ACKER, the Petitioner in the lower tribunal and the Appellant in the appeal in the district court will be referred to as the "Petitioner." The Respondent, BARBARA DRUMM ACKER, the Respondent in the lower tribunal and the Appellee in the appeal in the district court will be referred to as the "Respondent." Volume I of the Record-On-Appeal will be referenced by "R.p.

".

Volume II consists of transcript of the trial proceedings taken on May 25, 2000.

Reference to the transcript of the trial proceedings will be by the use of the symbol "T. 5/25/00, p. \_\_\_."

Reference to the Petitioner's Exhibits will be by the use of the symbol "PX \_\_\_\_." Reference to the Respondent's Exhibits will be by the use of the symbol "RX \_\_\_." However, where the exhibit is a transcript of a deposition, the references will be to the Exhibit number in the manner as stated above followed by the identification of the page within the transcript relevant to the reference.

Reference to an appendix, if any, will be by the use of the symbol "AP\_\_\_\_".

#### STATEMENT OF THE FACTS AND CASE

The parties ended their twenty three year marriage on July 20, 1993. (R.p. 20-21, T. 5/25/00, p. 154). The final judgment incorporated by reference, a transcript of a settlement agreement entered into by the parties with their attorneys, dictated in open court at the time of trial. (R.p. 1-19). At the time of the dissolution, the Petitioner, fifty-three (53) years old, was earning approximately \$160,000.00 a year as a pilot with

Delta Airlines with whom he had been employed since 1968. (T. 5/25/00, p. 4, 10, 22-23; P.X. 2). During the marriage, the Respondent had been a mother and a homemaker. At the time of the dissolution, she was working part-time. (T. 5/25/00, p. 153-154).

Pursuant to the Agreement, the Petitioner agreed to pay alimony in the amount of \$3,000.00 per month which would terminate automatically upon the death of either party or the remarriage of the Respondent. (R.p. 10). The parties further agreed that during the first three years, the alimony would be non modifiable. (R.p. 11). The parties further agreed that when the Petitioner retired, no longer flew for Delta, and was living off his pension, they would revisit the matter of the amount of any alimony that he paid thereafter. (R.p. 11). Other payments to be made by the Petitioner included the maintaining of life insurance, and paying the property taxes and insurance on the residence awarded the Respondent. (R.p. 9.13).

The agreement also resolved all equitable distribution issues. (R.p. 3-4). The Petitioner retained all of his interest in his Delta retirement benefits accumulated during the marriage which were reduced to a present value at the time of the dissolution of \$487,000.00. (R.p. 3-4; T. 5/25/00, p. 128). He received his parents' house. He also received a cash account with an approximate value of \$25,000.00. (R.p. 5).

The Respondent received a 401-K Plan with an approximate value of

\$243,000.00. (R.p. 4). This plan was encumbered by a loan of approximately \$50,000.00 which the Petitioner was required to satisfy. (R.p. 8; T. 5/25/00, p. 186, 189). The Respondent received the marital residence with the Petitioner satisfying the mortgage thereon. (R.p. 4; PX. 1, 13). The Respondent received IRA accounts totaling approximately \$39,000.00. (R.p. 5) The Petitioner then agreed to pay the Respondent \$69,805.00 as lump sum alimony either immediately or in the future for a period of time not to exceed six years. (R.p. 6). This obligation, which had accrued with interest to \$93,000.00 was paid by the Petitioner in 1999. (T. 5/25/00, p. 161). The Respondent also received a Delta Stock Plan which at that time had a value of \$4,500.00. (R.p. 4). Although the parties did not total up the figures line by line in the agreement, nevertheless, the parties attempted to accomplish an equal equitable distribution, especially in light of the lump sum alimony payment. 5/25/00, p. 129-130).

The agreement was reached by the parties following a full day of trial and negotiations. (T. 5/25/00, p. 156). Both parties attested that they were entering into the agreement freely and voluntarily, and with the advise of counsel. (R.p. 14-16). The trial judge then approved the agreement on the record and concluded the dissolution proceedings. (T. 5/25/00, 16-18).

The Petitioner continued his employment as a pilot with Delta Airlines until

taking an early retirement benefit about eighteen months before his mandatory retirement at age sixty. This early retirement option was not available at the time of the dissolution but came about in 1996 as the result of contract negotiations between the pilots' union and Delta Airlines. (T. 5/25/00, p. 30-31; PX. 6, p. 15-16). Although the Petitioner took his early retirement, he continued to pay the alimony until reaching mandatory retirement of age 60. (T. 5/25/00, p. 24).

The early retirement option offered the Petitioner several options as to the manner he would take his retirement benefits. (PX. 3). He elected a 50/50 lump sum/single life annuity which yielded a monthly single life annuity of \$7,803.00 a month and a lump sum award of slightly over one million dollars which was rolled-over into an IRA account. (T. 5/25/00, p. 9, 12-13; 34-35). Since the Petitioner's retirement, his only source of income has been the monthly annuity of \$7,803.00 and his "roll over" Harris Trust IRA account. (PX. 4).

Upon reaching the mandatory retirement age of sixty, the Petitioner filed his petition to modify the final judgment as to alimony on February 8, 1999. (R.p. 74-97). On March 8, 1999, the Respondent answered the petition for modification petition, asserted affirmative defenses thereto, and counter-petitioned for an increase of alimony. (R.p. 112-115).

The matter was heard in a one day trial on May 25, 2000. (R.p. 253). During

the trial, the Respondent did not pursue her counter-petition to increase the alimony. (T. 5/25/00, p. 168-169). At the conclusion of the trial, the trial judge ruled from the bench, reviewing the evidence, issuing various findings and ultimately denying each parties' claim to modify the final judgment. He further found the Respondent to be entitled to attorneys's fees, reserving jurisdiction to determine a reasonable amount of attorney's fees. (T. 5/25/00, p. 207-223).

On September 21, 2000, the trial judge entered his final order. (R.p. 253-262). The Respondent timely sought a rehearing. (R.p. 218-220, 263). Following the denial of the Respondent's motion for rehearing, the Respondent filed his timely notice of appeal. (R.p. 237-249). Oral argument was heard by a panel of the district court. The panel then referred the case to the district court for an en banc consideration. The en banc court addressed among other issues whether the court should recede from two cases which interpret Diffenderfer: Hollinger v. Baur, 719 So. 2d 954 (Fla. 3d DCA 1998), and Waldman v. Waldman, 520 So. 2d 87 (Fla. 3d DCA 1988). On May 22, 2002, the district filed its opinion affirming the trial court's denial of the modification, holding that pension benefits equitably distributed to a party may be considered in determining that party's ability to pay alimony. The district court also certified its opinion in direct conflict with opinions from the second, fourth and fifth districts. (R. p. 270-272, 279). A timely filed motion for clarification and rehearing filed by the Petitioner was denied on July 22, 2002.

On August 22, 2002, the Petitioner sought to invoke this court's discretionary jurisdiction under Fla. R. App. P. 9.030(a)(2)(A). This court has deferred ruling as to the issue of jurisdiction.

### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENTS POINT I

Double-dipping has historically had widespread acceptance as a method of determining when a law is applied unfairly. It has been used in criminal courts to determine whether sentencing guidelines have been followed. It has also been used in civil cases to determine whether an accounting method has been applied properly to the law. It has been used by this Court in determining when a utility was not entitled to a rate increase. It has been used in family law court setting to determine an

undervaluing of an asset as well as whether certain payments truly justified a parent's inability to pay child support.

This Court ruled in *Diffenderfer v. Diffenderfer*, 491 So. 2d 265 (Fla. 1986) that a retirement benefit could be considered as a source of alimony, or could be divided for equitable distribution purposes, but not both. The conclusions reached by the *enbanc* appellate decision that the 1988 statutory revisions replaced this Court's ruling in *Diffenderfer* are misplaced. The 1988 statute prescribes the valuation methodology to be used to determine a spouse's ability to pay alimony and the recipient's needs at the time of the divorce and not how the methodology is to be applied in a later modification proceeding. This is especially important when the determination of alimony fails at the time of divorce to follow the statute in reducing the Respondent's needs by including the her offset assets. Additionally, the amendments did not abrogate this court's prohibition against double-dipping by virtue of the cure-all provision in the equitable distribution and alimony statutes which allow courts to make adjustments to do equity and justice between the parties.

#### **POINT II**

Providing for spousal support is and has been a matter of public policy. Use of retirement plan benefits earned by the alimony-paying spouse has been made possible with a QDRO, allowing for a direct assignment of benefits before the

participant retires. QDRO provisions providing early payments in the Retirement Equity Act of 1984 were expanded in the Tax Reform Act of 1986, and all of this was made possible on account of public policy change. The ability to provide the support to a recipient spouse was also made possible by the retirement plan's non-assignment clause. The non-assignment clause preserved the benefits for the dual public policy purpose of both protecting the retiree so that the retiree would not be dependent upon society when no longer able to work, as well as to provide for the needs of the family unit when retirement occurs. To the extent that this court agrees with the Petitioner on the first point above, but might limit the exemption to the retirement asset without appreciation, the Petitioner asks this court to apply the double-dipping preemption it determined in *Diffenderfer* to the appreciation of the asset as a matter of public policy.

Additionally, if this court agrees with the district court ruling that the double-dipping preemption of *Diffenderfer* has been eliminated by the 1988 statute, then the Petitioner asks this court to broadly construe the statute as a matter of public policy to carve out an exception for retirement plan assets. A public policy finding is needed to make certain that when both parties to the divorce face the impairments of old age, each is afforded an opportunity to face retirement on an equal footing on that portion of the retirement plan asset provided in equitable distribution.

#### **POINT III**

The Respondent complains about unfairness, but she fails to provide grounds upon which to set aside a marital settlement agreement entered into six years earlier. Yet even though the agreement itself was not set aside, the trial court found six years after the cutoff date that she was provided less equitable distribution than the Petitioner. The trial court's finding was based upon a misapplication of the cutoff rule. As the finding was based upon the retirement plan assets that were distributed to the Respondent under the immediately offset method, and the disparity of appreciation between it and the asset against which it was offset six years later, this finding is in direct contravention of this Court's ruling in *Boyett v. Boyett*, 703 So.2d 455 (1997), that a party is not entitled to share in the earnings of an offset retirement asset after the cutoff date.

#### **POINT IV**

The trial court found that the Respondent would have to incur a 10% pre-59 1/2 excise tax penalty and, therefore, not required to use her income producing assets in determining her needs for alimony. Nothing in the 1988 statutes allows a court to ignore an income-producing asset which is accessible. Inconvenience for a former spouse does not give the court authority to ignore it. I.R.C. § 72(t)(2)(A)(iv) (2001) settles the issue in that the 401(k) money may be distributed to her over her lifetime

without penalty. She can choose to receive this income either by purchasing an annuity contract, or by direct rolling it to an IRA and have the proceeds paid to herself over her lifetime. Failure to include her asset in determining her needs is double-dipping against a previously divided asset. In addition, if this court were to find that the double-dipping issue of *Diffenderfer* survives the 1988 statutes, then what the trial court has done here amounts to triple-dipping.

### **POINT V**

The award of attorneys' fees to the Respondent was based upon a prevailing party standard. This was error and therefore must be reversed.

#### LEGAL ARGUMENT

I. THE DOUBLE-DIPPING CONCERN EXPRESSED BY THIS COURT IN *DIFFENDERFER v. DIFFENDERFER* SURVIVES THE 1988 FLORIDA STATUTE REVISION

Double Dipping has been an historical benchmark standard used to determine when a law is applied unfairly whereupon the courts issuing appellate rulings have reversed trial court findings based on double-dipping reasoning. *See*, *The Citizens of the State of Florida, Inc. v. Hawkins*, 364 So. 2d 723 (Fla. 1987); *Bain v. Bain*, 687 So. 2d 79 (Fla. 5th DCA 1997); *Ghen v. Ghen*, 575 So. 2d 1342 (Fla. 4th DCA 1991);

Porter v. State, 579 So. 2d 345 (Fla. 1st DCA 1991); Hikes v. McNamara Pontiac, Inc., 510 So. 2d 1212 (Fla. 5th DCA 1987); City of Plantation v. May, 475 So. 2d 1325 (Fla. 4th DCA 1985); Even when the double-dipping claims were based upon erroneous argument, Florida appellate courts have shown historical concern when this issue is raised. See, Stewart v. State, 588 So. 2d 972 (Fla. 1991); Sasso v. Ram Property Management, 452 So. 2d 932 (Fla. 1984); Acosta v. Krasco, Inc., 471 So. 2d 24 (Fla. 1985). The unfairness principle of double-dipping has been raised in arguments in criminal law<sup>1</sup>. It has been raised in civil law involving damages or

benefits<sup>2</sup>, and even under family law when issues of dividing property or calculating alimony and child support were raised<sup>3</sup>. This Court raised this principle of unfairness

Stewart v. State, supra; Williams v. State, 581 So. 2d 144 (Fla. 1991). These cases addressed the issue of double-dipping in the context of sentencing guidelines.

<sup>2</sup> 

Sasso v. Ram Property Management, supra; Acosta v. Krasco, Inc., supra (double-dipping issues considered in context of social security and disability benefits); The Citizens of the State of Florida, Inc. v. Hawkins, supra (court addressed argument as to whether double dipping occurred in setting utility rates); Hikes v. McNamara Pontiac, Inc., supra (addressed double dipping in a jury award of damages); City of Plantation v. May, supra (addressed as to whether a claimant's seeking relief under two sections of a retirement plan was double dipping).

<sup>3</sup> 

Bain v. Bain, supra, (appellate court applied the *Diffenderfer* prohibition of using retirement plan for both equitable distribution and alimony); *Akers v. Akers*, 582 So. 2d 1212 (Fla. 1st DCA 1991) (appellate rejected allocation of assets to wife in an

in *Diffenderfer v. Diffenderfer*, supra, when it provided the following passage:

Because an effective exercise of this discretion through the remedies available to the trial judge presupposes that the court has all relevant information, we reject the First District's holdings that the pension may not be considered marital property. We affirm, however, its holding that such benefits may be considered as a source of payment of permanent periodic alimony. The potential income may certainly bear on the employee spouse's ability to pay, as we noted in *Canakaris*, this factor can be determined "not only from the net income, but also net worth, past earnings and the value of the parties' capital assets." 382 So. 2d at 1202, citing *Firestone v. Firestone*, 263 So.2d 223 (Fla. 1972).

Obviously, however, injustice would result if the trial court were to consider the same asset in calculating both property distribution and support obligations. If the wife, for example, has received through equitable distribution or lump sum alimony one-half of the husband's retirement pension, her interest in his pension should not be considered as an asset reflecting his ability to pay. *Id.* at 267.

The storm of controversy evolved when the court in *Lauro v. Lauro*, 757 So. 2d 523 (Fla. 4<sup>th</sup> DCA 2000) held that the correct application of *Diffenderfer* was to first divide assets under equitable distribution and to calculate alimony only after this has been accomplished. In *Lauro v. Lauro*, supra, a pension in pay status was equally split between the parties. The trial court,citing *Diffenderfer*, refused to considered the \$1,079 a month being received by the wife in determining her need for alimony when

\_

equitable distribution when she used part of those assets for support of herself and to maintain marital properties during the pendency of the dissolution); *Ghen v. Ghen*, supra (error to consider the negative implications of a debt both to arrive at a value of a business for equitable distribution purposes and to reduce income available for payment of alimony).

it determined that the husband would pay the wife \$ 1,850 a month in permanent alimony. The fourth district concluded that the trial court misinterpreted *Diffenderfer* and should have considered the pension income as income to the wife for purposes of need for alimony. The district court opined further that in *Diffenderfer*, this court allowed retirement benefits to be considered in determining the ability to pay permanent periodic alimony, but went on to state:

Obviously, however, injustice would result if the trial court were to consider the same asset in calculating both property distribution and support obligations. If the wife, for example, has received through equitable distribution or lump sum alimony one-half of the husband's retirement pension, **her** interest in his pension should not be considered in his pension should not be considered as an asset reflecting his ability to pay.

Citing, *Diffenderfer*, supra at 267. (Emphasis added to show Southern Second version quoted). See, *Lauro v. Lauro*, supra. at 524.

In discussing what it perceived to be a misinterpretation of *Diffenderfer* by both the trial court and by inference, fourteen years of precedent, the district court in *Lauro*, stated:

The trial court in this case apparently construed the first sentence in the above quote as meaning that the trial court could not consider the income the wife would be receiving from the pension in determining from the pension in determining her need for alimony. What the supreme court meant, however, is explained by the next sentence, which is that the one-half of the husband's pension distributed to the wife could not be "considered as an asset reflecting his ability to pay." In other words, the

ability of the husband in *Diffenderfer* to pay alimony should be based on his financial situation after equitable distribution, not before. Similarly, the needs of the wife in this case should be based on her financial situation after equitable distribution, not before. This would include her income from the pension.

#### *Id.*, supra at 524.

Although the majority opinion of the district court in *Acker* determined the typographical error in the Westlaw/Premise version of *Diffenderfer* to be moot by virtue of the 1998 equitable distribution statute and the 1998 amendments to the alimony statute, a discussion as to the intent behind *Diffenderfer* is still warranted. In rendering its admonition in *Diffenderfer* of the consideration the same asset for equitable distribution and alimony obligations, this court did not limit its discussion of this issue with the example given which formed the basis of the present day typographical error controversy. Instead, this court subsequent to the language which formed the controversy as to the typographic error went on to state in its *Diffenderfer* opinion:

In most cases, for the following reasons, it may be preferable to deal with pension rights as a marital asset rather than merely a source of support obligations. First, on purely theoretical grounds, recognizing the non-employee spouse's entitlement to the other's pension reflects an appreciation of the former's contribution, indirect though it may be, to the economic success of the latter. . . . To the extent acquired during the marriage, the expected benefits are a product of marital teamwork. This, of course, may vary on the facts of each case.

. . . . . . . . . . .

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