SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC02-1925

L.T. CASE NO. 3D00-3096

CHARLES FREDERICK ACKER,

Petitioner,

vs.

BARBARA DRUMM ACKER,

Respondent.

ANSWER BRIEF OF RESPONDENT, BARBARA DRUMM ACKER

/

NANCY A. HASS, ESQUIRE Florida Bar No. 881635 NANCY A. HASS, P. A. 1865 South Ocean Drive, Suite 5K Hallandale, Florida 33009 Tel.: (954) 455-0129 Fax: (954) 455-9003

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

Accordingly, there is sufficient basis in the record, including evidence of the

Former Husband=s current income, expenses, life-style, and increased assets, to support the trial court's conclusion that the Former Husband failed to meet his burden of proof and the evidence in this case does not show an abuse of discretion by the lower tribunal. <u>Murphy v. Murphy</u>, 596 So.2d 513 (Fla. 4th DCA 1992).

C. THERE WAS NO ABUSE OF DISCRETION OR MISTAKE OF FACT OR LAW IN THE TRIAL COURT=S DENYING THE FORMER HUSBAND=S PETITION FOR MODIFICATION OF FINAL JUDGMENT OF DISSOLUTION OF MARRIAGE AWARDING ALIMONY, AS THE FORMER HUSBAND=S RETIREMENT WAS ANTICIPATED AT THE TIME OF THE ENTRY OF THE FINAL JUDGMENT AND THAT THERE HAS BEEN NO SUBSTANTIAL CHANGE OF CIRCUMSTANCES SINCE ENTRY OF THE PARTIES= FINAL JUDGMENT JUSTIFYING A MODIFICATION OF THE FORMER HUSBAND=S ALIMONY OBLIGATION

As a matter of law, a petitioner seeking a modification of alimony or support must present an adequate showing of a permanent, unanticipated, substantial change in financial circumstances to demonstrate an entitlement for any relief. <u>Rahn v. Rahn</u>, 768 So. 2d 1102, at 1105 (Fla. 2d DCA 2000) and <u>Pimm v. Pimm</u>, 601 So.2d 534, at 537 (Fla. 1992). In this case, the Former Husband had the burden of proving a substantial change of circumstances since entry of the parties= Final Judgment of Dissolution of Marriage, which burden the Former Husband could not meet.

The Former Husband incorrectly interpreted the parties= Marital Settlement Agreement as automatically terminating his alimony obligation immediately upon his attaining retirement. It is well settled law that it is error to provide for an automatic, future change or termination of alimony based upon the anticipated occurrence of a future event, such as the Former Husband=s retirement from his employment with Delta Airlines. <u>Hitt v. Hitt</u>, 571 So.2d 79, at 80 (Fla. 4th DCA 1990). In <u>Antonini v. Antonini</u>, 473 So.2d 739, at 742 (Fla. 1st DCA 1985), the first district opined that "Absent a clear evidentiary basis that the financial needs of the receiving spouse will change in the future, it is error to provide for an automatic reduction in future permanent periodic alimony payments."

Alimony may not be modified for anticipated changes in circumstances. Jaffee <u>v. Jaffee</u>, 394 So.2d 443, at 445 (Fla. 3d DCA 1981). In the instant case, when the parties entered into their Marital Settlement Agreement March 19, 1993, and when the trial court entered the Final Judgment of Dissolution of Marriage on July 20, 1993, the parties knew that the Former Wife would have assets received in equitable distribution and extremely limited non-alimony income from her part-time employment and, perhaps, limited income from those assets received in equitable distribution. In fact, at trial, the Former Wife=s expert, forensic accountant, Loretta Fabricant, C.P.A., provided unrebutted testimony that in 1999, the Former Wife had \$3,900.00 of reportable interest on her federal income tax return, which she utilized to meet her

expenses and that the Former Wife=s meager gross income in 1999 from her part-time employment was approximately \$6,000.00. (T. 145 lines 14-17). The parties also knew that the non-alimony income either from the Former Wife=s part-time employment or from her assets might decrease and eventually terminate due to a number of factors including, but not limited to, the Former Wife=s ill health. Like the Former Husband=s retirement from Delta Airlines, these changed financial circumstances were also anticipated and may not serve as a basis for a modification of the Former Husband=s alimony obligation. <u>Penland v. Penland</u>, 442 So.2d 1054, at 1055 (Fla. 1st DCA 1983).

In <u>Goodwin v. Goodwin</u>, 640 So.2d 173, at 174 (Fla. 1st DCA 1994), the trial court, in the original judgment of dissolution, provided that alimony would be terminated when the former wife reached the age of 62, the age at which the retirement accounts distributed to her could be accessed without penalty. The trial court later entered an amended final judgment that set forth that the attainment of the age of 62 years by the former wife would constitute a change of circumstances with respect to the alimony award. <u>Id.</u>

In <u>Goodwin</u>, the first district, in reversing the lower tribunal=s order opined as follows:

While there is evidence in the record that the former wife will have access to greater funds once she is able to draw on her share of the retirement accounts awarded to her as equitable distribution, there is no evidence as to the former wife's needs at the age of 62. As previously noted, the

41

former wife has had long-standing health problems; there is simply no way of knowing what her condition will be at age 62. Also, given the inevitable consequences of inflation, there is no indication that the alimony awarded will be sufficient to maintain the wife according to the standard to which she had become accustomed during the marriage.

<u>Id.</u> at 176.

As in the instant case, the language contained in the parties= Marital Settlement Agreement cannot be interpreted to provide for an automatic reduction or termination of the Former Husband=s alimony obligation, consistent with his retirement from Delta Airlines, absent a showing of a substantial change of circumstances in light of the totality of the evidence, especially, the Former Husband=s current financial ability to provide for such continued support.

Again, it is well established that an alimony award may not be modified because of a change in circumstances of the parties which was contemplated and considered when the original judgment or agreement was entered. AThe reason for this doctrine is an obvious one: if the likelihood of a particular occurrence was one of the factors which the court or the parties considered in initially fixing the award in question, it would be grossly unfair subsequently to change the result simply because the anticipated event has come to pass.@ Jaffee, 394 So.2d 443, at 445.

There is no question that the Former Husband=s retirement from Delta Airlines, was an anticipated event at the time the parties entered into their Marital Settlement Agreement. What was not anticipated was that the Former Husband would take a voluntary, early retirement from Delta Airlines, at which time his pension would be worth not \$487,000.00, but over \$1,550,000.00. Further, if the Former Wife had anticipated that her permanent alimony award would automatically terminate upon the Former Husband=s retirement, certainly she would never have agreed to the equitable distribution of 100% of the Former Husband=s pension to him, but, rather, would have demanded that the pension be apportioned between the parties, in order that she would also have retirement income to rely upon for her future support.

Clearly, this would be the case in every dissolution action in the State of Florida involving an award of permanent periodic alimony or extended rehabilitative alimony and the award of a substantial pension to the payor spouse. If this Honorable Court reverses or remands the lower tribunal=s Final Order of September 21, 2000, for a reduction or termination of the Former Wife=s alimony award, this Court will be sending a message to every spouse involved in a dissolution proceeding, such that no spouse should ever agree to give up their interest in the payor spouse=s pension or retirement account. For when the payor spouse retires, the payor will claim they no longer have the current financial ability to pay said alimony award, despite the value of the pension or retirement fund. Moreover, if we take the Former Husband=s argument on its face, the courts of this State cannot look to said pension or retirement account or the income generated from said asset equitably distributed to the payor spouse as a source of income for the payment of alimony. Such a narrowly draw principle or argument flies in the face of the public policy of the State of Florida and was certainly not the intent of this Court in its holding in <u>Diffenderfer</u>. <u>Diffenderfer</u>, 491 So.2d 265.

Further, the Former Wife is not attempting to change the parties= Marital Settlement Agreement as to equitable distribution, as the Former Husband incorrectly alleges. Practically speaking, the only Delta Airlines= pension that the Former Husband received in equitable distribution of the parties= marital estate, was that portion of the Former Husband=s pension valued by the parties at the time of their dissolution in the amount of \$487,000.00. As such, the lump sum, cash payment that the Former Husband received from Delta Airlines in 1997, in the amount of \$1,066,378.00, was not equitably distributed to the Former Husband at the time of the parties= divorce and, rather, was a windfall received by the Former Husband upon his voluntary, early retirement.

The testimony at trial of both the Former Wife=s expert, forensic accountant, Loretta Fabricant, C.P.A., and the Former Husband=s own pension expert, Tony Thelen, that information regarding this lump sum payment was not disclosed to the Former Wife at the time of the parties= dissolution and was not taken into account in the equitable distribution of the parties= marital estate, was unrebutted by the Former Husband.

The trial judge did not consider the Former Husband=s alimony obligation Anonmodifiable@. Based upon the totality of the circumstances in the instant case, the lower tribunal properly reasoned that the Former Husband has the financial ability to continue to provide permanent periodic alimony to the Former Wife, who continues to have the need for same. Accordingly, the trial judge disagreed with the Former Husband=s interpretation of the language contained in the parties= Marital Settlement Agreement, whereby the Former Husband believed that said language provided for an automatic modification of his alimony obligation or for the complete termination of his alimony obligation, without consideration to the factors set forth in ' 61.14 of Florida Statutes (2001). ' 61.14, Fla. Stat. (2001).

Thus, the trial judge was entirely accurate in opining that the Former Husband was incorrect in his analysis that the paragraph contained in the parties= Marital Settlement Agreement relating to Arevisiting@ the alimony issue on his retirement, warrants a termination of the Former Husband=s alimony obligation. (R.p. 253-262 paragraph 38). Rather, the lower tribunal=s obligation was to examine the totality of the circumstances, in order to determine whether there had been a substantial change of circumstances since entry of the parties= Final Judgment of Dissolution of Marriage, justifying a modification of the Former Husband=s alimony obligation. As there had been no such change, the Former Husband=s Petition was properly denied by the lower tribunal.

D. THERE WAS NO ABUSE OF DISCRETION BY THE TRIAL COURT AND THE TRIAL COURT WAS CORRECT IN FINDING THAT THE FORMER WIFE WAS ENTITLED TO AN AWARD OF ATTORNEY=S FEES

Section 61.16 of Florida Statutes (1996), authorizes the lower tribunal to Aorder a party to pay a reasonable amount for attorney's fees, suit money, and the cost to the other party of maintaining or defending any proceeding under this chapter, including enforcement and modification proceedings and appeals.@

' 61.16, Fla. Stat. (1996). The purpose of the Statute is to ensure that both parties will have the same opportunity to secure counsel in dissolution and post-dissolution proceedings. Here, the Former Wife was simply defending herself against the Former Husband=s efforts to terminate her alimony award upon which she depends for her financial sustenance. The fact that the Former Wife ultimately succeeded in obtaining

an order denying the Former Husband=s Petition for Modification of Final Judgment of Dissolution of Marriage Awarding Alimony did not diminish the Former Wife=s need for funds with which to pay her attorney for defending the Former Husband=s Petition in the first place. <u>Payne v. Payne</u>, 481 So.2d 551, at 552 (Fla. 2d DCA 1986).

In <u>Rosen v. Rosen</u>, 696 So.2d 697, at 700 (Fla. 1997), this Honorable Court held that proceedings under chapter 61 of the Florida Statutes are in equity and governed by basic rules of fairness as opposed to the strict rule of law and that

' 61.16 of Florida Statutes (1996) should be liberally, not restrictively, construed to allow consideration of any factor necessary to provide justice and ensure equity between the parties. ' 61.16.

Accordingly, the trial court may consider all factors not only financial circumstances of the parties, including whether the modification action brought or defended by the party seeking fees was meritorious or was litigated in good faith and whether the actions of one party compelled the other party to resort to the courts for a remedy. <u>Thornton v. Byrnes</u>, 537 So.2d 1088, at 1090 (Fla. 3d DCA 1989).

In the instant case, the Former Husband=s position was completely without merit and the Former Wife was compelled to defend the Former Husband=s Petition before the lower tribunal, as is evidenced by the uncontroverted testimony and evidence presented to the trial court. As such, the Former Wife was properly awarded attorney=s fees that were required by the Former Husband=s attempt to alter the parties= existing Final Judgment of Dissolution of Marriage to his advantage. <u>Goldman</u> v. Smargon, 524 So.2d 479, at 480 (Fla. 3d DCA 1988).

If it is necessary for a spouse to seek enforcement of a Final Judgment because of the willful refusal of the other spouse to comply with its terms, the trial court may take into account the disregard by that other spouse of the court=s order in considering a motion to assess attorney=s fees. <u>Patterson v. Patterson</u>, 399 So.2d 73, at 74 (Fla. 5th DCA 1981) and <u>Spencer v. Spencer</u>, 305 So.2d 256, at 259-60 (Fla. 3d DCA 1974).

Similarly, in <u>Baker v. Green</u>, 732 So.2d 6, at 7 (Fla. 4th DCA 1999), the former wife frustrated the former husband=s summer visitation with the parties= child, so that the former husband was forced to resort to the court as a result of the former wife's conduct. Under these circumstances, the fourth district held that the lower tribunal=s award of attorney's fees to the former husband was completely proper. where the former husband. <u>Id.</u>

Further, even with the equal distribution of the parties= assets pursuant to the terms of their Marital Settlement Agreement, the Former Husband's current income is clearly greater than the Former Wife's, and he is in a better position to pay the Former Wife=s attorney's fees. Leonard v. Leonard, 613 So.2d 1339, at 1341 (Fla. 3d DCA 1993) and Creel v. Creel, 568 So.2d 942, at 943 (Fla. 3d DCA 1990). It is apparent from the record that the Former Wife would have to invade her assets in order to pay attorney's fees, while the Former Husband could pay such fees from his annuity income, or interest income, or from the windfall cash settlement that he received when he took voluntary, early retirement from Delta Airlines. Under these circumstances, the

trial court=s award of attorney's fees to the Former Wife was also entirely justified. <u>Hough v. Hough</u>, 739 So.2d 654, at 655 (Fla. 4th DCA 1999) and <u>Nisbeth v. Nisbeth</u>, 568 So.2d 461, at 462 (Fla. 3d DCA 1990).

Accordingly, based upon the totality of the evidence in the instant case, the lower tribunal did not abuse its discretion in awarding the Former Wife attorney=s fees or in requiring the Former Husband to bear such fees incurred by the Former Wife in defending the Former Husband=s Petition for Modification of Final Judgment of Dissolution of Marriage Awarding Alimony.

CONCLUSION

There was no abuse of discretion by the trial court in this matter and the trial court=s order of September 21, 2000, which denied the Former Husband=s Petition for Modification of Final Judgment of Dissolution of Marriage Awarding Alimony dated February 8, 1999, and awarding the Former Wife attorney=s fees should be affirmed. Further, the Former Husband has not properly preserved the issues raised in his Initial Brief for argument before this Honorable Court and is arguing many of these issues for the first time. The issues raised by the Former Husband in his Initial Brief were not argued in the court below and; accordingly, are improperly included in the Former Husband=s Initial Brief, should this Honorable Court deem them to have any merit.